
 
Neuadd y Sir 
Y Rhadyr 
Brynbuga 
NP15 1GA 
 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Tuesday, 7 June 2016 

 
Dear Councillor 

INDIVDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 
 

Notice is hereby given that the following decisions made by a member of the cabinet will be 
made on Wednesday, 15 June 2016.  
 
1.   ESTABLISHING TWO TEMPORARY POSTS TO FACILITATE NEW 

DUTIES UNDER THE SOCIAL SERVICES WELL-BEING (WALES) 
ACT 2014, PART 11 - TO ASSESS AND MEET THE NEEDS OF 
ADULTS IN THE SECURE ESTATE. 
 
Division/Wards Affected:  All Wards 

Cabinet Member: Councillor G Burrows 
 
Report Author: Julie Boothroyd, Head of Adult Services 
 
Contact Details:  
07778336613 or  
E Mail: julieboothroyd@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
 

1 - 4 

2.   CAPABILITY POLICY FOR SCHOOL BASED EMPLOYEES 
 
Division/Wards Affected:  All Wards 

Cabinet Member: Councillor P Murphy 
 
Report Author: Sally Thomas HR 
 
Contact Details: Tel: 07900 651564      
 
 E-mail: sallythomas@monmouthshire.gov.uk  
 
 

5 - 32 

 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Paul Matthews 
Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

mailto:julieboothroyd@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

CABINET PORTFOLIOS 

County 
Councillor 

Area of Responsibility 
Partnership and 
External Working 

Ward 

P.A. Fox 
(Leader) 
 

Organisational Development 
Whole Council Performance, Whole Council 
Strategy Development, Corporate Services, 
Democracy. 
 
 
Environment,  Public Services & Housing 
Development Control, Building Control, 
Housing Service, Trading Standards, Public 
Protection, Environment & Countryside. 
 

WLGA Council 
WLGA 
Coordinating Board 
Local Service 
Board  
 
SEWTA 
SEWSPG 

Portskewett 
 
 

R.J.W. Greenland 
(Deputy Leader) 

Innovation, Enterprise & Leisure 
Innovation Agenda, Economic Development, 
Tourism, Social Enterprise, Leisure, Libraries & 
Culture, Information Technology, Information 
Systems. 
 

WLGA Council 
Capital Region 
Tourism  
 

Devauden 

P.A.D. Hobson 
(Deputy Leader) 

Community Development 
Community Planning/Total Place, Equalities, 
Area Working, Citizen Engagement, Public 
Relations, Sustainability, Parks & Open 
Spaces, Community Safety. 
 

Community Safety 
Partnership 
Equalities and 
Diversity Group 

Larkfield 

E.J. Hacket Pain Schools and Learning 
School Improvement, Pre-School Learning, 
Additional Learning Needs, Children’s 
Disabilities, Families First, Youth Service, Adult 
Education. 
 

Joint Education 
Group (EAS) 
WJEC 
 

Wyesham 

G. Burrows Social Care, Safeguarding & Health 
Adult Social Services including Integrated 
services, Learning disabilities, Mental Health.  
Children’s Services including Safeguarding, 
Looked after Children, Youth Offending. Health 
and Wellbeing. 
 

Gwent Frailty 
Board 
Older Persons 
Strategy 
Partnership Group 
 

Mitchel 
Troy 

P. Murphy Resources 
Accountancy, Internal Audit, Estates & Property 
Services, Procurement, Human Resources & 
Training, Health & Safety. 
 

Prosiect Gwrydd  
Wales Purchasing 
Consortium  

Caerwent 

S.B. Jones County Operations 
Highways, Transport, Traffic & Network 
Management, Waste & Recycling, Engineering, 
Landscapes, Flood Risk. 

SEWTA 
Prosiect Gwyrdd 
 

Goytre 
Fawr 

 



 

 

 

 
Sustainable and Resilient Communities 

 
Outcomes we are working towards 
 
Nobody Is Left Behind  

 Older people are able to live their good life  

 People have access to appropriate and affordable housing  

 People have good access and mobility  
 

People Are Confident, Capable and Involved  

 People’s lives are not affected by alcohol and drug misuse  

 Families are supported  

 People feel safe  
 
Our County Thrives  

 Business and enterprise 

 People have access to practical and flexible learning  

 People protect and enhance the environment 
 
Our priorities 
 

 Schools 

 Protection of vulnerable people 

 Supporting Business and Job Creation 

 Maintaining locally accessible services 
 

Our Values 
 

 Openness: we aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships. 

 Fairness: we aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and 

become an organisation built on mutual respect. 

 Flexibility: we aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an effective 

and efficient organisation. 

 Teamwork: we aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by 

building on our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our goals. 



 

 

 
 

Cymunedau Cynaliadwy a Chryf 
 

Canlyniadau y gweithiwn i'w cyflawni 
 
Neb yn cael ei adael ar ôl 

 Gall pobl hŷn fyw bywyd da 

 Pobl â mynediad i dai addas a fforddiadwy 

 Pobl â mynediad a symudedd da 
 

Pobl yn hyderus, galluog ac yn cymryd rhan 

 Camddefnyddio alcohol a chyffuriau ddim yn effeithio ar fywydau pobl 

 Teuluoedd yn cael eu cefnogi 

 Pobl yn teimlo'n ddiogel 
 

Ein sir yn ffynnu 

 Busnes a menter 

 Pobl â mynediad i ddysgu ymarferol a hyblyg 

 Pobl yn diogelu ac yn cyfoethogi'r amgylchedd 
 

Ein blaenoriaethau 

 Ysgolion 

 Diogelu pobl agored i niwed 

 Cefnogi busnes a chreu swyddi 

 Cynnal gwasanaethau sy’n hygyrch yn lleol 
 
Ein gwerthoedd 
 

 Bod yn agored: anelwn fod yn agored ac onest i ddatblygu perthnasoedd 
ymddiriedus 

 Tegwch: anelwn ddarparu dewis teg, cyfleoedd a phrofiadau a dod yn sefydliad a 
adeiladwyd ar barch un at y llall. 

 Hyblygrwydd: anelwn fod yn hyblyg yn ein syniadau a'n gweithredoedd i ddod yn 
sefydliad effeithlon ac effeithiol. 

 Gwaith tîm: anelwn gydweithio i rannu ein llwyddiannau a'n methiannau drwy 
adeiladu ar ein cryfderau a chefnogi ein gilydd i gyflawni ein nodau. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE 

To seek single member approval for the temporary recruitment of additional staff, 

to the North Monmouthshire Integrated Services, to pilot the provision of services 

to adults in HMP Usk and HMP Prescoed, during 2016-18. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

 1 x Social Worker and 1 x Occupational Therapist to be recruited under a 

temporary contract for the duration of a ‘pilot’ period. 

 Additional capacity to be based at Monnow Vale Health & Social Care 

Facility, but not part of the Gwent Frailty Programme. 

 Dedicated budget for this work to be managed as part of the Monmouth 

cost centre. 

 Welsh Government Performance Indicators for this work to also be 

compiled by Monmouth Integrated Services. 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

Local authorities must meet the care and support duties under the 2014 Act 

for those adults in the secure estate in Wales, regardless of their place of 

ordinary residence in Wales or elsewhere before their detention, where the 

prison or other secure estate premises are within their boundary.  

 

3.1. Local authorities must support an adult with care and support needs in the 

secure estate in Wales just as they would for someone in the community. 

 

3.2. The local authority must design its care and support procedures to be able to 

meet the care and support needs of those within the secure estate and adjust 

operating arrangements to meet the needs of the population and the regime 

of the secure estate. 

 

 

SUBJECT: ESTABLISHING TWO TEMPORARY POSTS TO FACILITATE NEW 

DUTIES UNDER THE SOCIAL SERVICES & WELL-BEING (WALES) 

ACT 2014, PART 11 – TO ASSESS AND MEET THE NEEDS OF 

ADULTS IN THE SECURE ESTATE. 

MEETING:  SINGLE MEMBER DECISION 

DATE:  15th June 2016 

DIVISION/AWARDS AFFECTED: All Wards 

 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



3.3. When an adult in the secure estate moves across a local authority boundary 

(either within Wales or across the English/Welsh border), as a result of an 

inter-prison transfer whilst in custody or on resettlement after release, it is 

important to maintain continuity of care and support.  

Following notification of such a transfer or impending release, the local 

authority responsible for the care and support of the individual while they were 

detained (the ‘sending authority’) will be responsible for contacting the local 

authority to which the individual will relocate (the ‘receiving authority’) as soon 

as possible. Both authorities will need to work together, and share appropriate 

information, to ensure continuity of care and support is maintained, until the 

receiving authority undertakes a re-assessment of the individual’s needs for 

care and support. 

 

3.4. The existing capacity of the Monmouth Integrated Services is unlikely to 

encompass these significant additional duties in a timely manner, without the 

provision of additional social work and occupational therapy professionals. 

 

4.  REASONS 

 

4.1. This confers an additional population of nearly 500 people on the existing 

Adult Services. 

4.2. There is a lack of experience among social workers and therapists around 

working in the secure estate and in the context of work with offenders. These 

skills will need time to evolve. 

4.3. Placing these posts within the Monmouth Integrated Services will enable the 

multi-disciplinary team to foster a collective skillset, which can deliver the 

required individual outcomes. 

4.4.  Moreover, centralising the Monmouthshire response within the local team will 

promote the development of strong core partnership arrangements with the 

National Offender Management Service (NOMS), Prison Health Department, 

National Probation Service (NPS), and Community Rehabilitation Companies 

(CRCs) locally. 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1. Welsh Government has provided transitional funding for the financial years 

2016-17 and 2017-18 (£120K and £109K respectively). This has been ring-

fenced under Cost Centre S414. 

5.2. The cost of a full-time social worker and an occupational therapist is £82K - 

£93K (dependent upon experience). 

 

Page 2



6. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 

 

 This response to the requirements of the Social Services and Well-being 

(Wales) Act, Part 11 is fundamentally about ensuring that residents of the 

‘secure estate’ in Monmouthshire have equality of access to assessment and 

appropriate care and support services. 

 The actual impacts from this report’s recommendations will be reviewed every 

12 months and criteria for monitoring and review will include: 

 

 Number of referrals for assessment. 

 Care & Support plans provided in secure estate. 

 Number of inter-prison transfers / prisoner release plans involving 

Monmouth Integrated Services. 

 

7. CONSULTEES:  

 

 Finance Manager, 

 Integrated Service Managers 

 Commissioning Manager 

 Safeguarding Manager 

 Integrated Team Manager. 

 

8. AUTHOR: Julie Boothroyd, Head of Adult Services 

 

Tel: 07778336613 or julieboothroyd@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

  

 

 

 

Page 3

mailto:julieboothroyd@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1  

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

The purpose of this report is to introduce the revised Capability Policy for school based employees. 

All Local Authorities in Wales have received guidance from the Welsh Government on dealing with 

capability issues for teachers and separate guidance for head-teachers and when formulating revised 

policies all local authorities are expected to have due regard to such guidance. 

 

This revised policy will replace the current Capability Policy for Schools. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

That the revised Capability Policy for school based employees be accepted and commended to governing 

bodies for adoption as soon as possible. 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

The Welsh Government published guidance in relation to the management of capability issues of school 

teaching staff in November 2013 and in September 2014 Welsh Government published separate guidance 

for the management of capability issues of Head-teachers.  

Both documents offer guidance to schools, governing bodies, local authorities, regional consortia, 

diocesan authorities and trade unions on the management of those who may be subject to capability 

procedures.  

 

At the present time, schools in Monmouthshire have one policy that applies to all staff – teaching staff, 

support staff and head-teachers and support. This policy requires updating. 

 

The revised policy has been developed on a collaborative basis, in consultation with four other local 

authorities in the SE Wales area, the Education Achievement Service, and all recognised Trade Union 

Regional Officers. The policy reflects the guidance provided by welsh government. 

 

SUBJECT:  Capability Policy for school based employees 

MEETING:  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION 

DATE:  15TH JUNE 2016 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

2  

Following receipt of the WG guidance documents, it was the aim of all the SE Wales local authorities, the 

EAS and the trade unions that one capability policy would be developed (that would apply to all staff in 

schools), as opposed to having three separate polices that would apply separately to support staff, 

teaching staff and Head-teachers. 

 

The approval and adoption of this policy therefore seeks to assist the management of capability issues for 

all staff employed in all schools in the SE Wales area, and seeks to ensure equity and fairness.  

This revised policy will therefore provide one policy that is applicable to all staff employed in schools and 

will provide a consistent and coherent approach to staff capability issues in schools across SE Wales. 

 

4. REASONS: 

 

The purpose of the revised policy is to provide one policy that is applicable to all staff employed in 

schools. It aims to provide a constructive approach to achieving improved work performance through 

effective supervision, mentoring, training, support, review and development and to ensure fairness in 

responding to those situations where improvement is not achieved.   

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

None 

 

6. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 

 

The Equality Impact Assessment is attached. 
 

7. CONSULTEES: 

 

All recognised trade unions – teaching and non-teaching regional trade union officers 

Education Achievement Service (EAS) 

 

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

Capability of Head-teachers – guidance for schools (WG guidance document No: 153/2014) 

Capability of school teaching staff – guidance for schools (WG guidance document No: 111/2013) 

 

9. AUTHOR:  

 

Sally Thomas HR 

 

10. CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

Tel: 07900 651564      E-mail: sallythomas@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

 

Page 6



April 2016 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

CAPABILITY POLICY FOR SCHOOL BASED 
STAFF 

 
 

The Governing Body of: _______________  
 
 

Date Adopted:___________  
 

 

   

 

 

  

  

  

 

 Protection of 
Employment 
Policy for 
SCHOOLS 
 

Page 7



April 2016 
 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 Monmouthshire County Council is committed to providing a first-class 

education for the children and young people of Monmouthshire.  In 
order to ensure this, school managers and governing bodies must 
recognise the importance of addressing performance issues in a fair, 
transparent and efficient manner. *Insert name of school* is therefore 
committed to ensuring that all staff possess the appropriate skills, 
knowledge, competence and aptitude to undertake their roles 
effectively. 

 
1.2 Effective performance management procedures demonstrate a school’s 

commitment to develop all employees to ensure job satisfaction, high 
levels of expertise and progression of employees in their profession. It 
will also help employees to meet the needs of pupils and raise 
standards. Effective performance management means paying 
continuous attention to monitoring progress during the year by line 
managers, intervening early and providing support if there are concerns 
about the performance of an employee.  It sets a framework for staff, 
leaders and governors to agree and review priorities and objectives in 
the context of professional development and the school’s improvement 
plans.1   

1.3 The purpose of this procedure and the Guidance on the Capability 
Procedure for School Based Staff is to help schools secure 
improvement – this is a joint effort between the employee, the Head 
Teacher and the Governing Body. Early identification of problems and 
appropriate intervention and support through effective performance 
management will help to avoid the need for formal capability procedures 
at a later date. In many cases improvement may be achieved through 
existing review processes often with a minimum of support and 
attention. In those instances where serious concerns are identified in 
terms of unsatisfactory performance a more formal approach may be 
required. 

 
1.4 Where it emerges that the issue causing concern is one of misconduct 

because the employee has failed to do something as a result of his or 
her own negligence or by refusal to act, then the issue is not one of lack 
of capability and it is to be dealt with in line with the school’s Disciplinary 
Procedure. 

 
1.5 Where it emerges that the issue causing concern is as a result of the 

employee’s ill health, the issue should be dealt with in line with the 
school’s sickness policy. 

 

                                            
1 Under the School Teacher Appraisal (Wales) Regulations 2011 there is a statutory 
requirement to undertake performance management procedures for teaching staff. 
Performance Management for support staff is undertaken in line with locally agreed 
procedures. These are separate procedures to the Capability Procedure. 

Page 8



April 2016 
 

 
2 PURPOSE 
 
2.1 The purpose of this procedure is to enable: - 
 

 all employees to be effective by ensuring that they achieve, sustain 
and improve on the levels of skill, knowledge and aptitude required 
of them to improve standards and achieve better outcomes for 
pupils; 

 all employees to access an appropriate programme of monitoring, 
support, guidance and training to achieve and sustain a satisfactory 
level of performance; and 

 employees to be made aware of circumstances where there is 
evidence that a satisfactory level of performance is not being 
achieved. 

  
2.2 Sections 5 to 9 of this procedure represent a set of stages that will 

provide employees with opportunities to hear how or why their 
performance is considered unsatisfactory and to offer any explanation 
that they wish to put forward.   

 
2.3 This procedure is written with the presumption that the Head Teacher 

will have the lead decision-making role when dealing with performance 
issues involving other members of staff and that line managers or other 
senior leaders may be designated with the responsibility of gathering 
and collating written evidence regarding the concerns. 

 
2.4 Where the Head Teacher’s performance is concerned the Chair of 

Governors should undertake the lead role at the informal stage and so 
where it says in the procedures what the Head Teacher will do, 
substitute “Chair of Governors” for “Head Teacher.” In undertaking 
his/her role the Chair of Governors will appoint, where appropriate, a 
designated member of the Local Authority or Regional Consortium to 
investigate the issues and/or provide appropriate support during the 
informal stage.  

 
3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
 
3.1 The main principles behind this procedure are that: - 
 

 all employees should be treated with respect, consistency and 
fairness; 

 matters of unsatisfactory performance will be raised promptly with 
employees and appropriate support, guidance and training will be 
provided to achieve a satisfactory level of performance will be 
provided in a timely manner. 

 all matters of managing unsatisfactory performance and related 
investigations will be treated in confidence by all parties involved 
throughout all stages of the process; 

Page 9



April 2016 
 

 where reference is made in this procedure to “a satisfactory level of 
performance” this means the level of performance that is laid down 
in the job description and person specification, but also means the 
Leadership or Practising Teacher Standards and the Code of 
Professional Conduct and Practice for Registrants with the 
Education Workforce Council;  

 Where an employee’s trade union representative cannot attend a 
formal meeting which may lead to a sanction, an alternative date, 
normally within five working days, should be offered by the 
representative. Should the representative subsequently be unable 
to attend the rearranged date, the meeting may be held in their 
absence or written representations will be accepted. 

 all meetings at the various stages of this procedure should be 
arranged as soon as possible within the time limits specified. If the 
time limits cannot be met for any justifiable reason they can be 
extended by agreement on both sides; 

 employees subject to these procedures should be given at least five 
working days’ notice in writing of the time and place of any meeting 
or hearing set up to hear the capability matter or any appeal that 
may follow; 

 employees subject to these procedures will be advised of the 
performance concerns raised against them in advance of any 
interview, performance review or capability hearing and will be given 
the opportunity to state their case and present relevant evidence 
before any decision is made; 

 at all stages of the procedure employees have the right to be 
represented  by a work colleague or their trade union. Please note 
this does not include a right to representation at review meetings 
held with the designated member of staff for the purposes of 
monitoring and reviewing performance; 

 appeals against warnings will be allowed under this procedure but 
they must not delay the on-going nature of the process. Where such 
appeals are made they will be heard by the Capability Appeals 
Committee of the Governing Body; 

 where there is an appeal against a dismissal on grounds of 
incapability the matter will be heard by the Staff Disciplinary and 
Dismissal Appeals Committee (SD&DAC); and 

 all stages of this procedure should be fully recorded with the  Head 
Teacher/Chair of Governors ensuring a record of all interviews and 
performance reviews with employees are made, giving the date, 
time and explanation (if any) provided at all stages of the procedure. 
The meetings of the Capability, Capability Appeals Committee, 
SD&DC and SD&DAC will be fully recorded by the Clerk to the 
Governing Body. 
 

3.2  At all formal stages of this procedure, the employee will be provided 
 with a support plan, which will be drafted in consultation with the 

Page 10



April 2016 
 

 employee and appropriate advisors and where possible agreed by all 
 parties, specifying: 

 the performance concerns 

 the targets to be achieved 

 the support to be provided to achieve the targets 

 who will monitor performance and progress following the formal 
meeting 

 the monitoring process including periodic structured meetings, 
informal discussion and direct support 

 how improvement will be monitored 

 the use of external expertise to judge standards and provide 
support where appropriate 

 the timescales in which the required level of performance is to be 
achieved. 

 
3.3 If at any stage during the procedure the employee consistently achieves 

a satisfactory standard and there is evidence to suggest that this 
improvement is sustainable these procedures will conclude. The Head 
Teacher (Chair of Governors in the case of a Head Teacher) will inform 
the employee of this both verbally and in writing. The employee must 
also be encouraged to sustain and improve their performance in the 
future. If, however, following this successful conclusion the employee 
fails to sustain a satisfactory level of performance at a later date the 
Head Teacher/Chair of Governors will recommence the procedure as 
follows: - 

 

 at the Stage where the previous procedure concluded if the failure 
in performance occurs within 60 working days (or one year in the 
case of Head Teachers) of that conclusion i.e. if it concluded at 
Stage 2 the procedure will recommence at Stage 3; or 

 at Stage 1 if the failure in performance occurs after 60 working days 
(or one year in the case of Head Teachers) after the conclusion of 
the procedure. 

 
3.4 Where it is necessary to recommence this procedure on more than two 

occasions the Head Teacher/Chair of Governors may consider that 
there is sufficient cumulative evidence indicating serious performance 
issues that require the procedures to start at Stage 4 immediately. 

 
3.5 Where it emerges during this procedure that the issue causing concern 

is one of misconduct because the employee has failed to do something 
as a result of their own negligence or by simply refusing to do it then the 
issue is not one of lack of capability and it must be dealt with under the 
school’s Disciplinary Procedure. 

 
3.6 Where an employee feels that they have been treated unfairly or have 

been discriminated against during the Capability Procedure they may 
bring a grievance at any stage of this procedure. The grievance should 

Page 11



April 2016 
 

be heard separately so that the Capability Procedure is able to continue 
uninterrupted as no procedure should automatically have precedence 
over any other. Where the grievance is against the manager leading on 
the capability then another manager must be called in to deal with the 
capability whilst the grievance is being heard. 

  
3.7 The roles and responsibilities of governing bodies, Head Teachers, 

Senior Leaders, middle managers, individual employees, the Chief 
Education Officer, the consortium representative and the HR Adviser 
are given in the Welsh Government “Guidance on the Capability of 
School Teaching Staff” and in the case of a Head Teacher “Capability of 
Head Teachers Guidance”  

 
3.8 It is possible that either prior to or during the course of this procedure a 

Head Teacher (Chair of Governors in the case of a Head Teacher) may 
become aware that an employee has, is perceived to have or is 
associated with someone who has or who is perceived to have, a 
“Protected Characteristic.” The Equality Act 2010 lists the “Protected 
Characteristics” as: - age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation. In some circumstances where this may have 
significance relating to an employee’s performance the Head 
Teacher/Chair of Governors will need to make further enquiries of the 
member of staff about what assistance may help and seek advice as to 
any reasonable adjustments that may need to be considered.   

 
4 EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES  
 
4.1 In the exceptional case where the Head Teacher (Chair of Governors in 

the case of a Head Teacher) has overwhelming evidence that the 
continued employment of the employee will jeopardise pupils’ education 
or puts them or other staff at risk of harm it will be appropriate to issue a 
final written warning. If the employee does not achieve a satisfactory 
level of performance after four weeks it will be appropriate to refer the 
matter to Stage 4 of these procedures. For this to occur the employee’s 
performance must fall so far short of what is required that improvement 
to a satisfactory level of performance may be deemed impossible or the 
employee’s failure in performance has a seriously detrimental effect in 
the school. The Head Teacher/Chair of Governors may also consider 
suspending the employee where it appears to be necessary for the 
protection of pupils, staff or property.  

 
 
5 INFORMAL SUPPORT   
 
5.1 Where concerns regarding an employee’s performance have reached a 

point where the employee is failing to respond to feedback which has 
been given to them, the employee should be advised by their line 
manager (or Chair of Governors in the case of a Head Teacher) that 

Page 12



April 2016 
 

continued failure to improve performance could result in a need to 
address their performance issues via the Capability Procedure. For this 
reason the Head Teacher will instigate an investigation of the issue and 
appoint a designated member of management to undertake the task. 
The designated manager must meet with the employee to ensure that 
there is complete clarity on where the performance issue lies and a plan 
devised to support the employee to improve their performance to the 
standard required. In the case of Head Teachers, the Chair of 
Governors should secure from the Regional Consortium the support of 
an individual with appropriate education expertise and no previous 
direct involvement in the work of the school. That person will be 
responsible for clarifying the concerns and gathering relevant 
contextualised evidence in advance of the meeting with the Head 
Teacher. 

 
5.2 The Head Teacher will interview the employee (in the presence of a 

trade union representative if the employee so wishes) and provide 
evidence of the concerns regarding his/her performance and engender 
discussion and dialogue with the employee so that mutual 
understanding of the performance issues is established. As a result of 
the meeting the Head Teacher may determine one of the following 
actions: 

 

 that no further action is required as the Head Teacher is satisfied 
with the employee’s response 

 that a support plan and review period should be established to 
address the performance concerns 

 
 In the case of a Head Teacher, the Chair of Governors would normally 

be accompanied at the meeting by a Local Authority representative. 
 
 5.3 If a support plan is required the time period for improvement should be 

no more than 30 working days and the Head Teacher/Chair of 
Governors should set the review period meeting and establish clear 
targets for performance improvement.   

 
 5.4 The Head Teacher/Chair of Governors will: 
 

 outline the performance concerns 

 outline the targets to be achieved 

 specify the support for the employee in achieving the targets; 

 require the designated manager to monitor performance and 
progress following this first meeting; 

 ensure that the monitoring process includes a range of supportive 
interventions; 

 ensure that the support to be provided is specific, time limited and 
will help them achieve an improvement in their performance; 

Page 13



April 2016 
 

 ensure that throughout the monitoring process the employee is 
given the opportunity of commenting upon the proposed plan of 
support; 

 ensure that the monitoring process is conducted in a sympathetic 
and non-threatening way with the objective of improving the 
employee’s work performance. However, it must be made clear that 
Stage 2 of the procedure will be triggered if there is no improvement 
within the review period. 
 

5.5 During the review period the designated manager will be responsible for 
gathering and collating any further written evidence. In the case of a 
Head Teacher the Consortium representative will, on behalf of the Chair 
of Governors, co-ordinate the implementation of the support plan and 
be responsible for gathering and collating evidence relating to the 
performance of the Head Teacher and progress against the 
performance targets throughout the review period. Progress will be 
reported to the Head Teacher or Chair of Governors (in the case of a 
Head Teacher) during the review period and presented to the Head 
Teacher or Chair of Governors (in the case of a Head Teacher) at the 
end of the period. 

 
5.6 In the case of a Head Teacher , at the end of the review period an 

interview with the Head Teacher should be conducted by the Chair of 
Governors (in the presence of a trade union representative or work 
colleague if the Head Teacher so wishes). The appointed consortium 
adviser will present their report and the Chair of Governors may find it 
helpful to be accompanied at the meeting by a local authority 
representative. If the Chair of Governors determines that the evidence 
from the informal support programme indicates that the Head Teacher's 
performance remains unsatisfactory, the Chair of Governors will 
convene a Governor Capability Committee under stage 1 of the 
procedure. 

 
5.7 Where the Chair of Governors determines that the Head Teacher has 
 achieved partial improvement they may determine to extend the period 
 of the informal stage. Any such extension should not exceed the original 
 period set for improvement, must be based upon clear expectations of 
 the improvements to be delivered, must be confirmed in writing and 
 should not be repeated on more than one occasion. 
 
5.8 Where the Chair of Governors determines that the evidence 
 demonstrates that the Head Teacher's performance has improved to a 
 satisfactory level the chair will determine that no further action is  
 necessary and that the procedure will cease. This will be confirmed in 
 writing, with the Head Teacher reminded of the requirement to sustain 
 the satisfactory level of performance and the consequences of 
 failing to sustain this standard. 
 

Page 14



April 2016 
 

5.9 If at any time in this procedure the Head Teacher or Governor 
Committee determines that an employee has not engaged positively 
and constructively with the process of improvement then the matter may 
be considered to be an issue of professional misconduct and will be 
considered under the school’s Disciplinary Procedure. 

 
 
6 STAGE 1 REVIEW PERIOD MEETING 

(FOR STAFF OTHER THAN THE HEAD TEACHER) 
 
6.1 Shortly before the Stage 1 review meeting takes place, the designated 

manager should prepare for it by undertaking an assessment of the 
employee’s performance during the agreed timescale for improvement.  

 
6.2 The employee should be notified of the date and arrangements for the 
 meeting in writing, giving the required 5 working days’ notice of the 
 meeting and being informed of the right to be accompanied by a trade 
 union representative or a work colleague. All supporting documentation 
 will also be provided at this point. 
    
 Should the employee wish to submit any documentation, it should  be 

provided to the Headteacher at least two working days in advance of 
the meeting. 

6.3 At the meeting the designated manager will present their report on the 
review period and the employee will have the opportunity to provide a 
response to the report. 

 
6.4 If the evidence from the informal support programme indicates that the 

employee’s performance has improved to a satisfactory level the Head 
Teacher will determine that no further action is necessary and that the 
procedure will cease. This will be confirmed in writing, with the 
employee reminded of the requirement to sustain the satisfactory level 
of performance and the consequences of failing to sustain this standard.  

 
6.5 If the Head Teacher determines that the employee has achieved partial 

improvement they may determine to extend the period of the informal 
stage. Any such extension should not exceed the original period set for 
improvement, must be based upon clear expectations of the 
improvements to be delivered, must be confirmed in writing and should 
not be repeated on more than one occasion. 

 
6.6 If insufficient progress has been made and the employee is still not 

achieving a satisfactory level of performance the Head Teacher will 
issue the employee with a Stage 1 oral warning, also provided in a 
written format that will state: 

 

 the performance problem; 

 the level of performance that is required; 

 the timescale for improvement (not to exceed six weeks); 

Page 15



April 2016 
 

 the date on which the employee’s performance will be reviewed; 

 that the oral warning will remain on record for 65 working days  

 the consequences of failure to meet the required standard and 
the potential to move to Stage 2 of the procedure; 

 the support that will be given;  

 in the case of teachers, the current performance management 
cycle will be suspended while the formal process is on-going; 
and 

 the right to appeal (which should not stop the on-going capability 
procedure as the two processes can run concurrently). 

 
 
STAGE 1 REVIEW PERIOD MEETING  
(IN THE CASE OF HEAD TEACHERS) 

 
6.7 If in the case of a Head teacher, insufficient progress has been made 

and the employee is still not achieving a satisfactory level of 
performance. The Chair of Governors will establish a Governor 
Capability Committee to address the issues and consider whether to 
trigger the formal stage of the procedure.  

 
6.8 The Governor Committee will consist of three members of the 

Governing Body and if the Chair of the Committee consents, advisors 
from the Consortium, Local Authority, Diocesan Authority or HR may 
attend in an advisory capacity. 

 
6.9 The Consortium representative will prepare a formal report on the Head 

Teacher’s performance identifying the performance shortfall, the actions 
taken at the informal stage and the impact or otherwise of those 
interventions. The Consortium representative will attend the meeting of 
the Governor Capability Committee to present the report 

 
6.10 The Head Teacher should be notified of the date and arrangements for 
 the hearing, including their right to be accompanied by a trade union 
 representative or work colleague, in writing at least five working days in 
 advance of the hearing. All documentation for the panel, including the 
 report of the consortium officer will be provided at this point. 
 
 Should the Head Teacher wish to submit any documentation, it should 
 be provided at least two working days in advance of the meeting of the 
 Governing Body Committee meeting. 
 
6.11 At the hearing the report on Head Teacher performance against 
 required standards will be presented by the consortium 
 representative. The Head  Teacher and their representative will then 
 have an  opportunity to  respond to the report and 
 performance concerns raised. 
 

Page 16



April 2016 
 

6.12 Following the Head Teacher’s response to the report the Governor 
 Committee will consider all the evidence presented before determining 
 one of the following outcomes:- 

 the Head Teacher's performance is satisfactory and no further 
action will be taken. The Head Teacher should be reminded of 
the requirement to sustain a satisfactory level of performance 
and the consequences if this is not achieved 

 the Head Teacher's performance is unsatisfactory and the Head 
Teacher should be issued with a formal warning and advised of 
expected improvements within a specified timescale 

 The Head Teacher has made some progress towards improving 
their performance but has not yet achieved the required 
satisfactory standard and the review period should be extended 
by a period no greater than the original period set. This option 
would not normally be considered where an extension of review 
period has already been provided under the informal stage. 
 

6.13 If it is determined to issue the Head Teacher with a formal warning this 
will be a written warning which will state: 

 

 the performance problem; 

 the level of performance that is required; 

 the timescale for improvement (not to exceed 40 working days); 

 the date on which the employee’s performance will be reviewed; 

 that the written warning will remain on record for one year; 

 the consequences of failure to meet the required standard and 
the potential to move to Stage 2 of the procedure; 

 the support that will be given; 

 the current performance management cycle for the Head 
Teacher will be suspended while the formal process in on-going; 
and 

 the right to appeal (which should not stop the on-going capability 
procedure as the two processes can run concurrently). 

 
 
7 STAGE 2  
 
7.1 At the end of the agreed review period for Stage 1, the designated 

manager (or Consortium Representative in the case of a Head Teacher) 
should gather evidence and undertake an assessment of the 
employee’s performance against the identified targets during the 
timescale for improvement. 

 
7.2 A review meeting will take place as per the process for Stage 1. If the 

Head Teacher (or Governor Committee in the case of a Head Teacher) 
determines that sufficient progress has been made and the employee is 
now achieving the a satisfactory level of performance that is sustainable 
then the review meeting will reflect this by acknowledging the 

Page 17



April 2016 
 

improvement made by the employee and by formally concluding the 
Capability Procedure. This will be in writing and the employee will be 
reminded of the expectation of sustaining a satisfactory level of 
performance and the consequence of failure to sustain this standard.  

 
7.3 If the Head Teacher/Governor Committee determines that the employee 

has achieved partial improvement they may determine to extend the 
review period. Any such extension should not exceed the original period 
set for improvement, must be based upon clear expectations of the 
improvements to be delivered, must be confirmed in writing and should 
not be repeated on more than one occasion. 

 
7.4 Where the Head Teacher (or Governor Committee) is not satisfied with 

the employee’s explanation the meeting may conclude with the 
employee being issued a Stage 2 written warning (or final written 
warning in the case of a Head Teacher) setting out:   

 

 the performance problem; 

 the level of performance that is required; 

 the timescale for improvement (not to exceed six weeks); 

 the date on which the employee’s performance will be reviewed; 

 for employees other than the Head Teacher, that the warning will 
remain on record for 130 working days 

 for a Head Teacher, that the warning will remain on record for 
one academic year; 

 the consequences of failure to meet the required standard and 
the potential to move to Stage 3 of the procedure; 

 the support that will be given; and 

 the right to appeal (which should not stop the on-going capability 
procedure as the two processes can run concurrently). 

 
 
8 STAGE 3 
 
8.1 At the end of the agreed review period for Stage 2 the designated 

manager (or Consortium Representative in the case of a Head Teacher) 
should gather evidence and undertake an assessment of the 
employee’s performance against the identified targets during the 
timescale for improvement.  

 
8.2 A review meeting will take place as per the process for Stages 1 and 2. 

If the Head Teacher (or Governor Committee in the case of a Head 
Teacher) determines that sufficient progress has been made and the 
employee is now achieving a satisfactory level of performance that is 
sustainable then the review meeting will reflect this by acknowledging 
the improvement made by the employee and by formally concluding the 
Capability Procedure. This will be in writing and the employee will be 

Page 18



April 2016 
 

reminded of the expectation of sustaining a satisfactory level of 
performance and the consequence of failure to sustain this standard. 

 
8.3 If the Head Teacher/Governor Committee determines that the employee 

has achieved partial improvement they may determine to extend the 
review period. Any such extension should not exceed the original period 
set for improvement, must be based upon clear expectations of the 
improvements to be delivered, must be confirmed in writing and should 
not be repeated on more than one occasion. 

 
 
For employees other than the Head Teacher 
8.4 Where the Head Teacher is not satisfied with the employee’s 

explanation the meeting may conclude with the employee being issued 
a Stage 3 final written warning setting out: 

 

 the performance problem; 

 the level of performance that is required; 

 the timescale for improvement (not to exceed six weeks); 

 the date on which the employee’s performance will be reviewed; 

 that the warning will remain on record for one academic year; 

 the consequences of failure to meet the required standard and 
the potential to move to Stage 4 of the procedure; 

 the support that will be given; and 

 the right to appeal (which should not stop the on-going capability 
procedure as the two processes can run concurrently). 

 
Head Teacher 
8.5 In the case of a Head Teacher, where the Governor Committee is not 

satisfied with the employee’s explanation the meeting may conclude 
with the issues being referred to the Staff Discipline and Dismissal 
Committee to consider under Stage 4 of the procedure. If this occurs, 
the Governors should seek the advice and support of the Regional 
Consortium and Local Authority (or the Diocesan Authority or provider 
of HR support, if applicable). 

 
 
9 STAGE 4 
 
9.1 Where the procedures detailed at Stages 1, 2 and 3 in this procedure 

have been followed with a final written warning issued and the 
employee has not achieved a satisfactory level of performance within 
the agreed timescale for improvement it will be appropriate to inform the 
employee that a hearing will be held before the Staff Discipline and 
Dismissal Committee of the Governing Body. 

 
9.2 At this stage there may be circumstances where the Head Teacher or 

Chair of Governors may consider suspending an employee from duty on 
full pay where s/he considers that it is necessary for the protection of 

Page 19



April 2016 
 

children, staff or property or where the continued presence of the 
person at work could have an detrimental effect on the running of the 
school. This is only likely to occur in exceptional circumstances and 
where all alternative options have been explored. 

 
9.3 Where the Head Teacher, or Governor Committee refers a capability 

matter to the Staff Discipline and Dismissal Committee the Chief 
Education Officer must be notified and provided with full details of the 
case. The CEO or his/her representative has a right to attend any 
meeting that might lead to dismissal in schools where the Council is the 
employer. In voluntary aided schools where the Governing Body is the 
employer Governors are strongly urged to seek advice from the CEO.  

 
9.4 The hearing will be held as soon as it can be arranged by the clerk to 
 the staff disciplinary and dismissal committee even if the member of 
 staff has subsequently resigned or is on sick leave.  
 
 The member of staff will be informed in writing with a minimum of 5 
 working days’ notice of:  

 the date, time and place for the hearing  

 the purpose of the hearing and the range of possible outcomes, 
including that a potential outcome of the hearing is dismissal  

 the right of the member of staff to be accompanied by a 
representative of the member of staff’s trade union or a work 
colleague  

 the membership of the staff disciplinary and dismissal committee 
and staff disciplinary and dismissal appeals committee  

 the name of the person presenting the case against the member of 
staff  

 the full details of the performance concerns, the evidence to be 
presented and the names of any witnesses to be called, etc.  

 who is to be the adviser to the staff disciplinary and dismissal 
committee and the staff disciplinary and dismissal appeals 
committee  

 the date by which all relevant documentation should be received by 
the clerk prior to the hearing.  

 
 The clerk will arrange for the documentation from both parties to be 
 distributed to the member of staff and their representative, including up-
 to-date procedures, no less than 5 working days prior to the hearing.  
 
 
 All supporting documentation being provided to the committee should 
 be provided at this point. This should include a report detailing the 
 performance of the employee against the targets set, the actions taken 
 and the impact or otherwise of those interventions. 
 

Page 20



April 2016 
 

 Should the employee wish to submit documentation to support their 
 case this should be provided at least two working days in advance of 
 the meeting. 
 
9.5 At least five working days before the hearing, the Staff Discipline and 

Dismissal Committee should be sent: - 
 

 written details of the arrangements for hearing the capability matter; 

 formal written notice of the capability matter and any supporting 
documentation such as written reports prepared by the designated 
manager/Head Teacher/Consortium Representative at each stage of 
the capability procedure; and 

 written confirmation of the employee’s response to the capability 
matter with any supporting documentation. 

 
9.6 All evidence that will be used at the hearing is provided in confidence 

and this must remain so throughout the proceedings. No new material 
should be introduced in the capability hearing above and beyond that 
previously issued to the Staff Discipline and Dismissal Committee. 

 
9.7 At no time prior to the capability hearing will members of the Committee 

discuss the capability matter. 
 
9.8 The Committee will follow the procedure outlined in Appendix A. If the 

Committee decides that the case is proven it may recommend to the 
Council that the employee be removed from the school and undertake 
dismissal proceedings (any dismissal proceedings to take place in 
accordance with Schedule 14 of the 1996 Act). 

 
9.9 If, for whatever reason, the Committee does not recommend the 

dismissal of the employee but is still not satisfied with the employee’s 
performance it will agree a further assessment period of no more than 
six weeks to allow the employee to achieve the required level of 
performance. Where this occurs the Committee must reconvene at the 
end of the further assessment period to review the progress of the 
employee and if a satisfactory level of performance is still not met 
recommend dismissal with the right to appeal. 

 
9.10 Where the member of staff is to be removed from the school the 

Committee will confirm its decision and reasons in writing to the 
employee and ask the Council to proceed accordingly (please see 
Section 11 below). The Committee will also inform the employee that 
s/he has the right to appeal against the decision to dismiss them. The 
employee will be entitled to statutory notice of dismissal in accordance 
with their conditions of service, the Staffing of Maintained Schools 
(Wales) Regulations 2006 and the Employment Rights Act 1996.  

 
 
 

Page 21



April 2016 
 

10 APPEALS 
 
Appeals against a warning being issued  
10.1  Where the employee appeals against a decision to issue a warning 
 under the Capability Procedure the appeal will be heard by the 
Capability Appeals Committee of the  Governing Body.  The Appeals 
Committee will  follow the procedure outlined in Appendix B. 
 
10.2 The employee must notify the clerk to the Governing Body in writing that 
 s/he intends to appeal, stating their grounds for appeal, within five 
 working days of receiving written confirmation of the decision.  
 
10.3 On receipt of the written request to appeal, the clerk to the Governing 
 Body will arrange for the Capability Appeals  Committee to hear the 
appeal. 
 
10.4 The Capability Appeals Committee will have three  options open to it: 
- 
 

 confirm the original decision; 

 agree a further assessment period of no more than six weeks to 
allow the employee to achieve ta satisfactory level of performance. 
Where this occurs the Appeals Committee must reconvene at the 
end of the further assessment period to review the progress of the 
employee and if a satisfactory level of performance is still not met 
confirm the original decision; or 

 Issue a lower sanction 
 
 There will be no further right of appeal. 
 
Appeals against dismissal  
10.5 Where the employee appeals against the dismissal decision of the Staff 

Discipline and Dismissal Committee the appeal will be heard by the 
Staff Discipline and Dismissal Appeals Committee. The Appeals 
Committee will follow the procedure outlined in Appendix B.  

 
10.6 Where an employee has been dismissed and given the right of appeal 

s/he must notify the clerk to the Governing Body in writing that s/he 
intends to appeal, stating their grounds for appeal, within five working 
days of receiving written confirmation of the decision. 

 
10.7 On receipt of the written request to appeal the decision of the Staff 

Discipline and Dismissal Committee, the clerk to the Governing Body 
will arrange for the Staff Disciplinary and Dismissal Appeals Committee 
to hear the capability appeal. The guidance given in paragraphs (9.4 to 
9.7) will still apply.  

 
10.8 The Appeals Committee will have three options open to it: - 
 

Page 22



April 2016 
 

 confirm the decision of the Staff Discipline and Dismissal Committee 
to dismiss the employee; 

 agree a further assessment period of no more than six weeks to 
allow the employee to achieve a satisfactory level of performance. 
Where this occurs the Appeals Committee must reconvene at the 
end of the further assessment period to review the progress of the 
employee and if a satisfactory level of performance is still not met 
confirm the dismissal; or 

 recommend that the employee be redeployed should suitable 
alternative employment be available. 

   
 There will be no further right of appeal. 
 
 

11 DISMISSAL OF AN EMPLOYEE 
 
11.1 Whilst the management of school staff is wholly delegated to the 

Governing Body of a community school the Council is still the employer. 
The Governing Body therefore, can only recommend to the Council that 
an employee be dismissed from the school following completion of the 
Capability Procedure i.e. after the Staff Discipline and Dismissal 
Committee hearing or if an appeal is lodged, after the appeal stage. It is 
for the Council to enact the dismissal.  

 
11.2 Where the school is a voluntary aided school the Governing Body is the 

employer of the staff who work there. The Governing Body, therefore, 
can enact the decision to dismiss after the Staff Discipline and 
Dismissal Committee have so decided whilst still giving the member of 
staff the right to appeal against the decision.  

 
 
12 EMPLOYEE ABSENCE DURING THE PROCEDURE 
 
12.1 It is possible that an employee will become absent through ill health 

either before or during the Capability Procedure. Whilst it is reasonable 
for the Head Teacher or Governing Body to wait for the employee’s 
recovery, the employee should immediately be referred to Occupational 
Health informing them that the Capability Procedure has been 
commenced with the employee concerned. The Occupational Health 
Adviser will then be able to give advice on whether the: - 

 

 sickness absence is related to the employee’s performance 
issues; and 

 Capability Procedure can continue (where the body of evidence 
is sufficiently strong enough and the employee is afforded the 
opportunity to present the case themselves or have it presented 
on their behalf). 

  

Page 23



April 2016 
 

12.2 Whilst it is difficult to continue to assess the performance of an absent 
employee, if at any stage of the procedure the body of evidence is 
sufficiently strong enough to proceed and the employee is afforded the 
opportunity to offer an explanation or have it presented on their behalf, 
the Head Teacher, or Chair of Governors may decide to: - 

 

 conclude the proceedings on the basis that the employee has 
achieved a satisfactory level of performance and that it is 
sustainable; or 

 continue the procedure to the next stage on the basis that the 
evidence shows that the employee has not consistently achieved a 
satisfactory level of performance. This decision should be made in 
consultation with Occupational Health who will be able to advise on 
whether the employee is well enough to present themselves or take 
part in the next assessment process. If the employee is not well 
enough the Head Teacher, or Chair of Governors, may decide to 
suspend the process until they are.   

 
12.3 Where the evidence is sufficiently strong enough to proceed to Stage 4 

of the procedure where a Capability Hearing is held and the employee 
is absent through ill–health, every effort should be made to ensure that 
the employee can attend the hearing to present themselves. Employees 
have the right to request a postponement of the hearing, however, this 
should not unduly delay the hearing taking place and written 
representations or representatives attending in the employee’s absence 
will be allowed instead. Where a postponement is being requested, 
medical evidence in support of this request should be submitted. 

 
12.4 Throughout this procedure if it is the advice of Occupational Health that 
 there is no likelihood of the employee returning to work in the  
 foreseeable future then the Head Teacher, or Chair of Governors 
 should consider dealing with the employee’s sickness absence through 
 the School’s Sickness Management of Attendance Policy. The 
 requirement to notify EWC under the appropriate regulations dealing 
 with professional incompetence will be unaffected by this decision. 
 
 
13 REPORTING PROFESSIONAL INCOMPETENCE TO THE 

EDUCATION WORKFORCE COUNCIL 
 
13.1 Employers are required to report cases of professional incompetence 

related to Registrants with the Education Workforce Council directly to 
the Education Workforce Council where the employer: - 

 

 has ceased to use the services of a registrant on  grounds relating 
to his/her professional incompetence; or 

 may have ceased to use the services of a registrant on that ground 
had s/he not ceased to provide these services. 

 

Page 24



April 2016 
 

SUMMARY OF HEAD TEACHER CAPABILITY PROCEDURE  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Informal Support 
Where failures in employee 
performance are identified: - 

 interview employee;  

 set targets for improvement; 

 issue notice of improvement; 

and commence assessment 

period  

Stage 1 

 review employee performance 

If employee does not achieve a satisfactory level of performance:  

 commence assessment period; and 

 set targets for improvement 

 issue written warning; and 

 go to Stage 2. 

 

If employee achieves a 
satisfactory level of 
performance consistently 
conclude procedure. 
However, should the 
continuous assessment 
process identify a subsequent 
dip in performance within 1 
year this procedure will 
recommence at the Stage 
where it concluded previously. 
If the subsequent dip in 
performance occurs after 1 
year following the conclusion 
of the Procedure then these 
procedures will commence 
again but at Stage 1. 

Stage 2 

 review employee performance 

If employee does not achieve a satisfactory level of performance: - 

 commence second assessment period; and 

 set targets for improvement 

 issue final written warning; and 

 go to Stage 3. 

 

 

Stage 3 

 review employee performance 

If employee does not achieve a satisfactory level of performance: - 

 refer the matter to the SD+D Committee; and 

 go to Stage 4 the Capability Hearing. 

 

Stage 4 
 
Hearing before the SD&D Committee  
 

Appeals against the 
written and final 
written warnings will 
be heard by the 
Capability Appeals 
Committee but they 
will not stop this on- 
going process. Where 
an employee is 
dismissed they will 
have the right to 
appeal to the SD&D 
Appeals Committee  

If employee does not achieve a 
satisfactory level of performance 
go to Stage 1. 

Page 25



April 2016 
 

SUMMARY OF CAPABILITY PROCEDURE  
(STAFF OTHER THAN HEAD TEACHERS) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Informal Support 
Where failures in employee 
performance are identified: - 

 interview employee;  

 set targets for improvement; 

 issue notice of improvement; 

and commence assessment 

period  

Stage 1 

 review employee performance 

If employee does not achieve a satisfactory level of performance: - 

 commence assessment period; and 

 set targets for improvement 

 issue oral warning; and 

 go to Stage 2. 

 

If employee achieves a 
satisfactory level of 
performance consistently 
conclude procedure. 
However, should the 
continuous assessment 
process identify a subsequent 
dip in performance within the 
next 60 working days this 
procedure will recommence at 
the Stage where it concluded 
previously. If the subsequent 
dip in performance occurs 
after 60 working days 
following the conclusion of the 
Procedure later then these 
procedures will commence 
again but at Stage 1. 

Stage 2 

 review employee performance; 

If employee does not achieve a satisfactory level of performance: - 

 commence second assessment period; and 

 set targets for improvement 

 issue written warning; and 

 go to Stage 3. 

 

 

Stage 4 
 
 Hearing before the SD&D Committee  
 

Appeals against the 
verbal, written and 
final written warnings 
will be heard by the C 
of G but they will not 
stop this on going 
process. Where an 
employee is dismissed 
they will have the right 
to appeal to the SD&D 
Appeals Committee  

If employee does not achieve a 
satisfactory level of performance 
go to Stage 1. 

Stage 3 

 review employee performance; 

If employee does not achieve a satisfactory level of performance: - 

 commence third assessment period; and 

 set targets for improvement 

 issue final written warning;  

If employee does not achieve required standards of performance: - 

 go to Stage 4- the Capability Hearing. 

 

Page 26



 

 
      
 

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation 
Sally Thomas 
 
Phone no: 07900651564 
E-mail: sallythomas@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

To introduce a new Capability Policy for school based 

employees 

Name of Service 

HR 

Date Future Generations Evaluation form completed 

25 January 2016 

 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 

with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal. 

Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

n/a  

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

N/a  

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

n/a  

Future Generations Evaluation  
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments)  

P
age 27



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

n/a  

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

n/a  

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

n/a  

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

This includes the protected characteristics of age, 

disability, gender reassignment, race, religion or 

beliefs, gender, sexual orientation, marriage or civil 

partnership 

 

 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have 

met this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this 
principle? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with 

long term and 

planning for 

the future 

n/a  

P
age 28



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have 

met this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this 
principle? 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

n/a  

Involving 

those with an 

interest and 

seeking their 

views 

n/a  

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or getting worse 

n/a  

Positively 

impacting on 

people, 

economy and 

environment 

and trying to benefit all three 

n/a  

 

P
age 29



3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age    

Disability    

Gender 

reassignment 

   

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

   

Race    

Religion or Belief    

Sex    

Sexual Orientation    

 

Welsh Language 

We will make this policy available in welsh 
should it be required 

  

 

P
age 30



4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and 
safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
note http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Equality%20impact%20assessment%20and%20safeguarding.docx  and for more 
on Monmouthshire’s Corporate Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on safeguarding 
and corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding  Safeguarding in this context applies to both 
children (not yet reached 18th birthday) and 
vulnerable adults (over 18 who is or may be in 

need of community care services by reason of 
mental or other disability, age or illness and who 
is or may be unable to take care of himself or 
herself, or unable to protect himself or herself 
against significant harm or serious exploitation.) 

Safeguarding is about ensuring that 
everything is in place to promote the well-
being of children and vulnerable adults, 
preventing them from being harmed and 
protecting those who are at risk of abuse and 
neglect. 

 

Corporate Parenting  This relates to those children who are ‘looked 
after’ by the local authority either through a 
voluntary arrangement with their parents or 
through a court order. The council has a 
corporate duty to consider looked after children 
especially and promote their welfare (in a way, 
as though those children were their own).  

  

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 
6. The reason for development of this policy relates to the SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main 

positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and 
what will you be doing in future? 

 

Development of this policy arises form the need to update current policy (as it is out of date) and also to reflect welsh 

government guidance that has been issued in relation to teachers and separately for head-teachers 

 

7. Actions. As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable.  

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  Progress  

P
age 31

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Equality%20impact%20assessment%20and%20safeguarding.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


    

    

    

 

8. Monitoring: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will 

evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review.  

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  

Review of this policy will be taken in line with our normal review 

processes – which will be dependent upon legislative changes 

and welsh government statutory guidance. 

 

 P
age 32


	Agenda
	1 ESTABLISHING TWO TEMPORARY POSTS TO FACILITATE NEW DUTIES UNDER THE SOCIAL SERVICES WELL-BEING (WALES) ACT 2014, PART 11 - TO ASSESS AND MEET THE NEEDS OF ADULTS IN THE SECURE ESTATE.
	2 CAPABILITY POLICY FOR SCHOOL BASED EMPLOYEES
	2a. Capability Policy - Schools - Final 2016 04 (002)
	2b. EQIA Capability Policy for schools 2016 (002)


